DEHYDRINS IN SCOTS PINE TISSUES: RESPONSES TO ANNUAL RHYTHM, LOW TEMPERATURE AND NITROGEN

# SARI KONTUNEN-SOPPELA

Department of Biology, University of Oulu

**OULU 2001** 



#### SARI KONTUNEN-SOPPELA

# DEHYDRINS IN SCOTS PINE TISSUES: RESPONSES TO ANNUAL RHYTHM, LOW TEMPERATURE AND NITROGEN

Academic Dissertation to be presented with the assent of the Faculty of Science, University of Oulu, for public discussion in Kuusamonsali (Auditorium YB210), Linnanmaa, on March 8th, 2001, at 12 noon. Copyright © 2001 University of Oulu, 2001

Manuscript received: 9 February 2001 Manuscript accepted: 12 February 2001

Communicated by Doctor Michael Wisniewski Docent Hely Häggman

ISBN 951-42-5911-4 (URL: http://herkules.oulu.fi/isbn9514259114/)

ALSO AVAILABLE IN PRINTED FORMAT ISBN 951-42-5910-6 ISSN 0355-3191 (URL: http://herkules.oulu.fi/issn03553191/)

OULU UNIVERSITY PRESS OULU 2001

# Kontunen-Soppela, Sari, Dehydrins in Scots pine tissues: Responses to annual rhythm, low temperature and nitrogen

Department of Biology, University of Oulu, P.O.Box 3000, FIN-90014 University of Oulu, Finland 2001

Oulu, Finland

(Manuscript received: 9 February 2001)

#### Abstract

Natural seasonal variation and the effects of cold treatment and nitrogen fertilization on protein expression with special emphasis on dehydrin proteins, were studied using different aged Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.). Several different dehydrins were found and their expression depended on the tissue type, tree age or specific treatment. Their concentrations fluctuated seasonally and in response to nitrogen fertilization, but no effects of low temperature on the dehydrins of seedlings were observed. A 60-kDa dehydrin was associated with cold acclimation in the bud and bark tissues of mature trees and in the needles of seedlings. In the needles of mature trees, this dehydrin was associated with springtime desiccation, which was detected as a significant decrease in the osmotic potential of needles.

The quantity and quality of soluble proteins altered seasonally in Scots pine tissues, but low temperature treatment alone did not have any effect on the proteins. Soluble protein concentration increased during autumn and decreased in spring in buds and bark, but not in the needles of mature trees. In needles of seedlings, however, protein concentrations altered seasonally. Several proteins, of varying molecular weights, were more abundant in winter in all the tissues studied and some increased in concentration in the nitrogen-fertilized seedlings. The role of these proteins as a storage reserve in Scots pine is discussed.

The osmotic potential of needles showed seasonal fluctuation, being high in the summer and low during the winter. Low temperature treatment decreased the osmotic and water potential of needles and increased the concentrations of soluble sugars in seedlings. Based on carbohydrate analyses, the metabolism of seedlings acclimated to low temperature in less than ten days. Nitrogen fertilization increased the content of total nitrogen and the soluble protein concentrations in the needles of seedlings and the growth both in the mature trees and seedlings. Although the frost resistance showed no response to nitrogen-fertilization, the soluble proteins and dehydrins were affected in a manner that suggested an earlier growth resumption of spring in the fertilized trees.

*Keywords:* carbohydrates, cold acclimation, deacclimation, osmotic potential, *Pinus sylvestris L.*, soluble proteins, water potential.

# Acknowledgements

The present work was carried out at the Department of Biology/Botany and the Botanical Gardens at the University of Oulu. The financial support of the Finnish Cultural Foundation, The Foundation for Research of Natural Resources in Finland, Metsämiesten säätiö Foundation and the University of Oulu is gratefully acknowledged.

I am most grateful to my supervisors, Professor Pekka Lähdesmäki and Dr. Kari Laine, for their guidance and encouragement throughout this work. I am also grateful to the official referees of this thesis, Dr. Hely Häggman, (Finnish Forest Research Institute, Punkaharju) and Dr. Michael Wisniewski (Appalachian Fruit Research Institute, USDA-ARS, West Virginia, US) for their constructive criticism.

I thank my collaborators Dr. Jari Hynynen from Finnish Forest Research Institute, Vantaa and Janne Lankila, M.Sc., Dr. Hanna Laukkanen, Dr. Erja Taulavuori and Dr. Kari Taulavuori in our department for their valuable contributions to this study. All the members of our research group 'Ecological and Physiological Responses of Plants to Environmental Change in Boreal and Subarctic regions' are thanked for their companionship during these years.

Special thanks are due to Ms. Tuulikki Pakonen for her encouragement and amazing ability to provide help at all times. Ms. Toini Eijärvi and Ms. Seija Turtinen are thanked for their skilful assistance in the laboratory. I am grateful to Ms. Marjatta Palukka, Mr. Niilo Rankka, Mr. Matti Rauman, Ms. Hanna-Liisa Suvilampi, Ms. Tarja Törmänen, Ms. Taina Uusitalo, Ms. Erja Vaarala and many other people at the Department of Biology and the Botanical Gardens for their help. The staff at the Finnish Forest Research Institute, Punkaharju Research Station is thanked for their encouragement and helpful attitude during the last meters of this long run, and Mr. Esko Oksa is acknowledged for his invaluable help in editing the layout of this thesis.

All the plant physiologists in our department (Anja, Anna Maria, Anneli, Erja, Hanna, Janne, Kari, Laura, Marianna, Merja, Minna, Terttu, Veli-Pekka, Virve and others) have supported and taught me in many ways. I am grateful for their help and friendship, the inspiring discussions, and the pleasant times we spent together. My officemate Hanna has shared with me the moments of happiness and despair that life has brought us, and I value her warm friendship greatly.

The support of friends and family has made this work possible. My godmothers Virpi and Elizabeth have shown that it is always important to study and I am grateful for their encouragement. Riitta and the Malm- family, Lydia, and the ladies at the KC-association are thanked for their friendship and the unforgettable moments that we have spent together. I am grateful to my parents, and to my brother and sister and their families for their love and encouragement. Finally, I thank Kimmo, Ilari and Kaisa-Reetta for their love and support and their patience in the course of this work.

Punkaharju, February 2001

Sari Kontunen-Soppela

# **Abbreviations**

ABA abscisic acid

BSP bark storage protein
COR cold-regulated proteins

DTT dithiothreitol
DW dry weight

EDTA ethylendiaminetetraacetic acid

FW fresh weight

IgG immunoglobulin G

LEA late embryogenesis abundant

LT50 the temperature causing 50% electrolyte leakage

NPK nitrogen phosphorus potassium

PVDF polyvinylidene fluoride PVPP polyvinylpolypyrrolidone

SDS-PAGE sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

TCA trichloroacetic acid

Tris Tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane

VSP vegetative storage protein

# List of original papers

The thesis is based on the following publications, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I Kontunen-Soppela S & Laine K (2001) Seasonal fluctuation of dehydrins is related to osmotic status in Scots pine needles. Manuscript submitted for publication.
- II Kontunen-Soppela S, Lankila J, Lähdesmäki P & Laine K (2001) Responses of protein and carbohydrate metabolism of Scots pine seedlings to low temperature. Manuscript submitted for publication.
- III Kontunen-Soppela S, Hynynen J, Laukkanen H, Laine K & Lähdesmäki P (2001) Soluble protein patterns and dehydrins of Scots pine buds in long-term NPK fertilization treatment. Manuscript submitted for publication.
- IV Kontunen-Soppela S, Taulavuori E, Taulavuori K, Laine K (2001) Effect of nitrogen fertilization on the protein metabolism of Scots pine seedlings during hardening. Manuscript submitted for publication.
- V Kontunen-Soppela S, Taulavuori K, Taulavuori E, Lähdesmäki P & Laine K (2000) Soluble proteins and dehydrins in nitrogen-fertilized Scots pine seedlings during deacclimation and the onset of growth. Physiol Plant 109: 404-410.

# **Contents**

Abstract	
Acknowledgements	
Abbreviations	
List of original papers	
Contents	
1 Introduction	11
1.1 Cold acclimation and dormancy in woody plants	11
1.2 Freezing injury and dehydration in plant cells	
1.3 Metabolic changes related to cold acclimation and hardening	12
1.3.1 Dehydrins	
1.3.2 Storage proteins	15
1.4 Effects of excess nitrogen on plants	15
2 Aim of the research	
3 Materials and methods	
3.1 Plant material and growing conditions	19
3.2 Protein analyses	
3.3 Osmotic potential, water potentials, and dry weight	21
3.4 Frost resistance	
3.5 Carbohydrate analyses	21
3.6 Measurements of growth and nitrogen content	
3.7 Statistical analyses	
4 Results	23
4.1 Soluble protein concentrations	23
4.2 Protein patterning in SDS-PAGE	
4.3 Dehydrins	25
4.4 Water relations	
4.5 Frost resistance	26
4.6 Carbohydrates	26
4.7 Growth and CN-analyses	
5 Discussion	20

5.1 Responses to season and cold treatment	28
5.1.1 Soluble protein concentration and patterns	28
5.1.2 Dehydrins	29
5.1.3 Water relations and carbohydrates	31
5.2 Responses to nitrogen fertilization	32
5.3 Future prospects	33
6 Conclusions	35
7 References	37
Original papers	45

#### 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 Cold acclimation and dormancy in woody plants

Plants that are able to overwinter in temperate and cold regions can cold acclimate; i.e. they are capable of increasing freezing resistance in a controlled manner. During the acclimation period, cold or frost hardening develops, providing the plant with a tolerance to low temperatures that would be lethal to an unhardened plant (Howarth & Ougham 1993). The degree of hardening varies in relation to the growth stage of the plant and is closely associated with the dormancy cycle (Bigras 1996). According to Doorenbos (1953), dormancy includes "all the cases when a living tissue predisposed to elongate does not do so." Frost hardening can increase independently of dormancy, but usually trees cannot attain full hardiness until growth has ceased (Weiser 1970, Bigras 1996). Because winter dormancy, or the endodormancy in the classification of Lang *et al.* (1987), and cold hardiness are overlapping events in plants, the processes involved in them are difficult to distinguish and separate.

Cold hardening in nature is suggested to be a gradual process (Weiser 1970), which in northern conifers is first induced by a shortening photoperiod (Sakai & Larcher 1987, Taulavuori *et al.* 1997). The second stage of hardening involves increasingly lower temperatures, and for some very hardy species a third stage, which requires very low temperatures, is possible (Weiser 1970). In spring, the cold hardiness of trees is progressively lost due to increasing temperatures (Dormling 1993, Bigras 1996, Taulavuori *et al.* 1996) but specific stages in dehardening have not been identified. The loss of endodormancy in spring is associated with favorable temperatures and occurs simultaneously with deacclimation, when the chilling requirement of the plant is met (Sakai & Larcher 1987, Bigras 1996). However, the metabolic activity of cells can increase before the frost hardiness of the plant is lost (Häggman *et al.* 1985, Kupila-Ahvenniemi 1985, Näsholm & Ericsson 1990).

The timing of cold hardening in plants as well as the onset of dormancy are genetically determined that are adapted to local conditions (Weiser 1970, Sakai & Weiser 1971). In the case of trees with a wide range of distribution, the timing of bud set and the development of

frost resistance can vary significantly between different provenances or ecotypes of the same species (Sakai & Weiser 1971, Sarvas 1974, Hurme *et al.* 1997, Repo *et al.* 2000).

#### 1.2 Freezing injury and dehydration in plant cells

When exposed to low temperatures, plant cells encounter three main problems; changes in the spatial organization of biological membranes, a retardation of biochemical and chemical reactions, and alterations in the availability and status of water (Vézina *et al.* 1997). During cold acclimation plants initiate mechanisms to prevent or survive freezing injury, and an essential part of cold tolerance is the ability to recover from freeze-induced injury (Howarth & Ougham 1993). Ice formation is generally directed to the extracellular space in freezing tolerant plants, whereas in susceptible plants freezing is intracellular, causing death (Burke *et al.* 1976). During extracellular freezing, ice forms between cells, which in turn initiates the removal of free water from cells in order to come to vapor pressure equilibration. This leads to dehydrative stress in the cells (Sakai & Larcher 1987, Uemura & Steponkus 1999). Freezing injury is regarded to be a consequence of membrane lesions that are caused by the dehydration that occurs during freezing (Steponkus 1984), although other factors may also contribute to the cellular damage induced by freezing (Thomashow 1999).

Dehydration, which is caused either by freezing, drought or salt stress, also occurs during developmental events such as seed desiccation and, is thought to be analogous at the cellular level (Bray 1993). According to Levitt (1972) "...the only freezing tolerance developed by a plant is tolerance of the secondary freezing stress - the water stress induced by freezing". Crowe *et al.* (1990) regard freezing stress similar to dehydration only in that both stresses involve the removal of freezable water from cells. The two stresses differ in that the remaining bound water can only be taken away by dehydration but not lowering of the temperature. On the other hand, water stress and the phytohormone ABA are known to improve the cold tolerance of plants (Palva & Heino 1998). Evidence for the similarity of dehydration and freezing has also been raised from studies that have shown that the same proteins and genes can be induced by the different stresses that cause cellular dehydration (see references in Palva 1994, Thomashow *et al.* 1997, Thomashow 1999). However, the signaling pathways of cold and other dehydration stresses are turning out to be partly different (Shinozaki & Yamaguchi-Shinozaki 2000).

# 1.3 Metabolic changes related to cold acclimation and hardening

In order to tolerate the stresses that they face, plants have to adapt their metabolism. Several cellular and metabolic functions are altered by low temperatures and freezing. Because the plasma membrane is thought to be the primary site of injury during freezing (Levitt 1972), most of the alterations are aimed at preserving the integrity of membranes (Uemura & Steponkus 1999).

Plant membranes undergo both qualitative and quantitative modifications during periods of cold acclimation and deacclimation. The lipid composition of the plasma membrane and chloroplast envelopes change during cold acclimation in a way that the threshold temperature of membrane damage is lowered compared to non-acclimated plants (Uemura & Steponkus 1999). This is due to the increasing fluidity of the cold acclimated membranes, which results from a change in lipid composition towards an increase in desaturated fatty acids (Sutinen 1992, Vogg *et al.* 1998). Because of the alterations in lipid components of membranes, the protein fraction in them also changes. The lipid-protein ratio of thylakoid membranes increases during cold hardening (Vogg *et al.* 1998) as well as the activity of plasma membrane H+-ATPase (Hellergren *et al.* 1983, Sutinen 1992). Yoshida *et al.* (1999) reported changes in tonoplast enzymes during a low temperature treatment. The total lipid concentration also increases in conifer needles during winter (Fischer & Höll 1991).

Carbohydrate content is known to vary according to the hardening status of a tissue. Starch concentrations decrease and the concentrations of soluble sugars increase in cold acclimating tissues of woody plants (Aronsson et al. 1976, Fischer & Höll 1991, Ögren et al. 1997, Greer et al. 2000). The oligosaccharides raffinose and stachyose are especially associated with cold hardiness, low temperature and dormancy, but sucrose also enhances cold hardiness and desiccation tolerance of buds in woody plants (Stushnoff et al. 1997). In addition to carbohydrates, woody plants accumulate other solutes, such as proline (Jouve et al. 2000) or glutamic acid (Pietilä et al. 1991), when exposed to low temperatures or during natural hardening. In general, the function of the solutes is to maintain turgor in dehydrating cells, but they may also have protective effects on macromolecules (Smirnoff 1998). Cold temperatures also lead to oxidative stress in plants by inducing reactive oxygen species. Therefore, the activities of antioxidant enzymes (ascorbate peroxidases, glutathione reductase, superoxide dismutase, etc.) taking part in the scavenging of free radicals, as well as the levels of antioxidant compounds, are induced during the cold acclimation (Tao et al. 1998, Taulavuori et al. 1999a) and play an important role in recovery from freeze-induced damage.

The process of adaptation to low temperatures may cause changes in the function of genes and proteins. The adaptation can involve the modification of pre-existing proteins and the up- and down-regulation of gene expression or protein synthesis. New gene expression and protein synthesis has also been observed during the adaptation. It is suggested that cold induced gene activity may aid in the metabolic adjustment to low temperatures or confer freezing tolerance to tissues (Guy 1990). Stress-induced genes may also be involved in the signal transduction of the stress-response (Ingram & Bartels 1996, Thomashow 1999). Many cold-induced proteins and genes have been studied in several plant species (see references in Guy 1990, Howarth & Ougham 1993, Hughes & Dunn 1996, Thomashow 1999). These proteins include apoplastic proteins having antifreeze activity (Griffith *et al.* 1992), cryoprotective proteins (Hincha *et al.* 1990) and molecular chaperones (Guy *et al.* 1998). However, the function of many cold-induced proteins is not yet known.

In woody plants, many of the genes and proteins related to cold acclimation may also be connected to the dormancy status of the plants (Wisniewski *et al.* 1996, Rowland & Arora 1997). In general, cold induced proteins in woody perennials can be divided into two

groups, proteins related to desiccation tolerance and storage proteins which serve as an overwintering form of nitrogen reserves.

#### 1.3.1 Dehydrins

A group of dehydration-related proteins and their genes were first detected from developing seeds and categorized as Late Embryogenesis Abundant (LEA) proteins (Delseny 1994). LEA proteins are divided into groups based on specific amino-acid sequences (Bray 1993 and 1994, Dure 1993). The D-11 family (Dure 1993) or group 2 (Bray 1993) LEA proteins are called dehydrins. Dehydrin proteins are induced in plants by dehydration-related environmental stresses such as low temperature, drought or high salinity (Close 1996) and some studies also report a response to wounding (Rouse et al. 1996, Richard et al. 2000). These proteins, of variable molecular masses, have been found in many plant species. Indicative of dehydrins is the presence of one or several lysine-rich units called the Ksegments conserved near the carboxy terminus of the protein and repeated several times throughout the sequence (Close 1996). Some dehydrins also possess a string of serine residues (S-segment). Another consensus sequence (DEYGNP), the Y-segment, can be found near the amino terminus of most of the dehydrins (Close 1996). The 15-amino-acid consensus sequence of the Lys-rich motif EKKGIMDKIKEKLPG has been used for antibody production (Close et al. 1993). Several proteins from different species, including woody perennials, have been detected with this anti-dehydrin antibody (Close et al. 1993, Wisniewski et al. 1996, Sauter et al. 1999). In conifers, dehydrin proteins and genes have been identified from the seeds of Pinus (Close et al. 1993) and Pseudotsuga (Jarvis et al. 1996), but studies on gene expression are restricted to needles of *Picea glauca* seedlings (Richard et al. 2000).

Dehydrins are localized to the cytoplasm or nucleus, depending on the cell type (Close 1996). Recently dehydrin-like proteins have been found in storage protein bodies and amyloplasts of cold acclimating *Betula pubescens* (Rinne *et al.* 1999) and plastids of *Prunus persica* bark (Wisniewski *et al.* 1999). Cold acclimation also induces their accumulation in the mitochondria of several plant species (Borovskii *et al.* 2000). Some of the dehydrins are post-translationally regulated by glycosylations (Golan-Goldhirsh *et al.* 1998, Levi *et al.* 1999) and phosphorylations (Vilardell *et al.* 1990), the latter of which is related to the targeting of these proteins to nucleus (Jensen *et al.* 1998).

The function of dehydrins is suggested to be the preservation of the structural integrity of cells by inhibiting the coagulation of macromolecules (Close 1997) but direct evidence for the role of dehydrins in the cold tolerance of plants also exists. By overexpressing constitutively a gene that regulates COR (cold-regulated)-proteins, some of which are dehydrins, Jaglo-Ottosen *et al.* (1998) showed that COR-genes promote the freezing tolerance in *Arabidopsis*. The peach (*Prunus persica*) PCA60 dehydrin possesses antifreeze activity thereby altering the shape of the ice crystals, which could aid in reducing the freezing damage to the cells (Wisniewski *et al.* 1999). Cryoprotective activity of dehydrins on enzyme function has been demonstrated with the *Prunus persica* dehydrin (Wisniewski *et al.* 1999) and the birch (*Betula pubescens*) RAB-16-like dehydrins (Rinne *et al.* 1999).

Other possible functions of dehydrins include molecular chaperone-like properties (Close 1996) and the preservation of membrane integrity during dehydration (Close 1997).

### 1.3.2 Storage proteins

Storage proteins that are present in the nonseed tissues of plants are called vegetative storage proteins (VSP) or bark storage proteins (BSP) and they are important in the cycling of nitrogen in plants (Staswick 1990). The amount of VSP increases in the bark and wood of dormant trees during autumn, especially in deciduous trees (Wetzel et al. 1989, Sauter & van Cleve 1990, Langheinrich & Tischener 1991, Arora et al. 1996) but also in conifers (Wetzel & Greenwood 1989). VSPs are used for new growth in spring. The leaves of poplar (Lawrence et al. 1997, Beardmore et al. 2000) and the buds of interior spruce (Binnie et al. 1994) are also reported to contain VSPs. VSPs have been studied intensively on *Populus*, where they are reported to be glycosylated proteins (Langheinrich & Tischener 1991) encoded by a multigene family (Coleman et al. 1992). They are localized in protein storage vacuoles (protein bodies) in stem tissues (Wetzel et al. 1989). Short photoperiods (Coleman et al. 1992) and low temperature (van Cleve & Apel 1993) induce VSPs in poplar and their synthesis is controlled by the availability of nitrogen (Coleman et al. 1994) and the hormone methyl jasmonate (Beardmore et al. 2000). The poplar VSPs exhibit homology to poplar seed storage proteins (Beardmore et al. 1996) and wound-induced proteins (Davis et al. 1993) but not to other seed storage proteins.

## 1.4 Effects of excess nitrogen on plants

Plant growth in boreal forest ecosystems is generally limited by the availability of nitrogen. The forms of nitrogen in the soil available to plants are usually regarded to be nitrate  $(NO_3^-)$  and ammonium  $(NH_4^+)$ , the latter of which is the preferred form of nitrogen absorbed by Scots pine (Flaig & Mohr 1992, Gezelius & Näsholm 1993). Forest plants are also capable of obtaining nitrogen as organic substances (Näsholm *et al.* 1998), with the help of mycorrhiza (Abunizadah & Read 1986 a and b, Abunizadah *et al.* 1986, Finlay *et al.* 1992). Plants can also sequester nitrogen from wet and dry atmospheric deposition via leaves as in oxidized  $(NO_x)$  or reduced  $(NH_3)$  or  $NH_4^+$ ) form (Rennenberg & Gessler 1999).

Nitrogen promotes growth and increases biomass production of trees and nitrogen fertilization has been used to increase wood production and forest growth. In excess, nitrogen may have adverse effects on the vitality of plants. Nitrogenous air pollutants and fertilizers cause changes in the shoot/root ratio (Van der Eerden & Perez-Soba 1992, Entry et al. 1998) and reduce mycorrhizal induction in Scots pine (Väre 1989, Perez-Soba et al. 1995, Wöllecke et al. 1999). The reduced activity of roots can create a nutrient imbalance (van Dijk & Roelofs 1988, Ferm et al. 1990, Jokela 1998). These factors may consequently increase the susceptibility of trees to stresses caused e.g. by frost, drought and pathogens (Bobbink et al. 1992, Fangmeier et al. 1994, Wöllecke et al. 1999).

Growth disorders and mortality of apical buds in Scots pine are observed under high ammonium supply and these have been attributed to decreased frost tolerance of the trees (Ferm et al. 1990, Pietilä et al. 1991). Reports concerning the effect of nitrogen on frost resistance vary depending on the species and the form of nitrogen (NOx, NH<sub>3</sub>). Nitrogen has been reported to both impair (Hellergren 1981, Dueck et al. 1990, Cape et al. 1991) and increase the freezing resistance of conifer needles during cold hardening (DeHayes et al. 1989, L'Hirondelle et al. 1992). There are also studies, where frost resistance of trees is not affected either way by nitrogen (Wiemken et al. 1996, Taulavuori 1998). Nitrogen-rich fertilization is known to prolong the growing period of plants and thus increase the susceptibility of trees to late and/or early frosts (Cannell & Sheppard 1982, Margolis & Waring 1986, Bobbink et al. 1992). According to Jokela (1998) nitrogen fertilization increases the mesomorphism of Scots pine needles and may thus lower natural protection to environmental stresses. Excess nitrogen, either as fertilization or ammonium deposition, has also caused frost-drought-type injuries in plants (Jalkanen & Aalto 1993, Gordon et al. 1999).

Extra nitrogen supply alters the metabolism of nitrogenous compounds in plants and an increased concentration of amino acids (Pietiläinen & Lähdesmäki 1986, Zedler *et al.* 1986, Ferm *et al.* 1990, Näsholm & Ericsson 1990, Näsholm *et al.* 1994), soluble proteins (Zedler *et al.* 1986, Ferm *et al.* 1990), and polyamines (Taulavuori *et al.* 1999b) have been reported. The activities of enzymes involved in N uptake are also induced in nitrogen-supplied Scots pine (Perez-Soba *et al.* 1994). Excess nitrogen also changes protein patterns in Scots pine needles during acclimation and deacclimation (Pietilä *et al.* 1991). Because proteins play an important role in the development of freezing tolerance, it has been suggested that the observed changes may affect the frost hardiness of nitrogen-supplied trees.

# 2 Aim of the research

The main objectives of this study were to gain an understanding of the effects of low temperature, nitrogen, and seasonal changes on the metabolism of Scots pine. Research was focused on a group of proteins that are induced by cellular dehydration, the dehydrins. The dehydrins were studied to characterize the seasonal variation, their presence in different tissues, their induction by low temperature or nitrogen and their relation to the water status of needles. Other proteins that could be related to the cold hardiness of Scots pine were also studied. The response of these other seasonally fluctuating proteins to nitrogen fertilization was assessed.

Different experiments were conducted in order to

- describe the seasonal variation in water relations, soluble proteins and dehydrins in different tissues and in trees of different ages (I, III-V)
- determine the effect of a low temperature treatment on water relations and carbohydrate and protein metabolism in seedlings (II)
- investigate the effect of timing and dose of nitrogen fertilization on growth, patterns
  of proteins and dehydrins (III-V), osmotic potential (V) and cold resistance (IV, V) of
  mature trees (III) and seedlings (IV, V)

# 3 Materials and methods

# 3.1 Plant material and growing conditions

Branches of mature trees (I, III) or whole seedlings (II, IV, V) of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) were collected and stored on ice. The needles, buds or living bark were dissected in the laboratory, frozen immediately in liquid nitrogen and stored at -70 °C until analyzed. The material used and the experiments conducted are characterized in detail in Table 1.

Table 1. Plant material and experiments used in the studies.

Plant	Origin	Tissue used in the sampling	Experiment	Study
Mature trees	Natural stand	needles	Seasonal changes	I
40-year-old	local seed origin, Oulu	buds		
	(65° 03'N; 25° 27'E)	bark		
Mature trees	Seeded stand	buds	NPK-fertilization	III
40-year-old	local seed origin, Muhos		150 kg N ha	
	(64° 51'N; 26° 17'E)			
2-year-old	Nursery seedling	needles	Low temperature	II
seedlings	seed origin Utajärvi		treatment	
	(65° 45'N; 26° 23'E)			
2-year-old	Nursery seedling,	needles	N-fertilization	IV
seedlings	seed origin Pyhäntä		442 or 884 kg N ha	
	(64° 05'N; 25° 20'E)		in June or July	
2-year-old	Nursery seedling	needles	N-fertilization	V
seedlings	seed origin Utajärvi		442 or 884 kg N ha	
	(65° 45'N; 26° 23'E)		in July	

To assess seasonal changes in Scots pine metabolism, mature trees growing in a natural stand in Oulu, were used for sampling (I). Samples were collected for analyses monthly between 12 October 1998 and 13 September 1999. The annual growth of the previous year was harvested from October 1998 to June 1999 and the new growth between July-September, 1999.

The effect of low temperature was studied on two-year-old Scots pine (II). The seedlings were raised in paper-pots and overwintered out-of-doors. The seedlings were potted into sand and kept outside under field conditions at the beginning of the growth period. After an adaptation period of two days at 18 °C in 70% relative humidity in growth chambers, half of the seedlings were exposed to cold treatment (4 °C) for 14 days in the chambers in a 16-h photoperiod. Control plants were held at 18 °C at the same photoperiod.

The long-term effects of nitrogen fertilization on seasonal changes in protein metabolism were studied on 40-year-old mature Scots pine (III). Fertilization with 150 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> had been repeated every five years using nitrogen-rich NPK fertilizer 'Super Y' (ratio of nutrients 20-4-8). Control samples were taken from an unfertilized plot.

Nitrogen fertilization effects were also studied on two-year-old Scots pine seedlings. The pot seedlings were planted to pots in May 1996 (IV) and June 1997 (V) in a mixture of sand, peat and raw forest humus (1:1:1) and inserted into a sand bed in the experimental field (Taulavuori *et al.* 1999b). Ammonium nitrate (NH<sub>4</sub>NO<sub>3</sub>xCa(OH)<sub>2</sub>)-fertilizer was given at either 442 or 884 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>. In experiment IV, the fertilization was done either on June 6 or July 6, 1996, and in experiment V, on July 7, 1997. Unfertilized seedlings were used as controls in both treatments. Seedlings were collected for samples during the autumn 1996 (IV) and in the spring of 1998 (V).

# 3.2 Protein analyses

Needles of current (I, IV) or previous year (I, II, V), buds (I, III) and living bark (I) were used for protein extractions.

For the analyses of bud soluble proteins in experiment III, frozen buds were ground in liquid nitrogen and homogenized in an extraction buffer containing 0.1 M Tris-HCl (pH 9.0), 1.5% (w/v) PVPP, 5 mM DTT and 2 mM EDTA. Proteins were precipitated with 70% ammonium sulphate and the precipitates dissolved in distilled water. The samples were desalted with Econo-Pac 10DG columns (Bio-Rad), concentrated by lyophilization and redissolved in distilled water. Protein concentrations were measured with the bichinconinic acid method (Smith *et al.* 1985). Proteins were diluted in SDS-PAGE sample buffer (Laemmli 1970).

For the bud, needle and bark protein analyses in experiments I, II, IV and V, frozen, powdered tissue (0.5-1 g) was homogenized in extraction buffer (50 mM Na-borate, 50 mM ascorbic acid, 100  $\mu$ M DTT, pH 9.0) and 50% (w/w) PVPP. Protein concentrations of supernatants were measured according to Bradford (1976) and equal amounts of protein were precipitated with 0.015% (v/v) Na-deoxycholate and 7.2% (v/v) TCA. The precipitate was washed with acetone, centrifuged, and the resulting pellets were dissolved in SDS-PAGE sample buffer (Laemmli 1970).

Proteins obtained with both extraction methods were separated by SDS-PAGE (Laemmli 1970). The gels were stained with colloidal Coomassie Blue G-250 according to Neuhoff *et al.* (1988). The immunoblot analysis was conducted according to Harlow & Lane (1988). Proteins were transferred to Immun-blot-PVDF (Bio-Rad) or supported nitrocellulose membrane. A polyclonal antibody against the conserved region of the dehydrin-family (Close *et al.* 1993) was used at a 1:750 or a 1:1000 dilution. A negative control was made by blocking the antibody with the same peptide that was used for producing it. A 1:5000 dilution of second antibody (goat-antirabbit IgG alkaline phosphate conjugate, Sigma) was applied and the membrane was developed with an alkaline phosphatase conjugate substrate kit (Bio-Rad).

Protein contents of replicate gels and blots were analyzed and their protein contents were quantified with Fluor-S™ MultiImager System (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). In order to compare the amount of the 60-kDa dehydrin between different months (I), the band volumes in the immunoblots were scanned.

## 3.3 Osmotic potential, water potentials, and dry weight

The osmotic and the water potentials of the needles were measured with a dew point meter (HR-33T, Wescor Inc., Logan, UT, USA) (I-II, V). For measurement of the osmotic potential, detached needles were frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -70 °C. The osmotic potential of fluid pressed from the needles was measured the next day according to the manufacturer's instructions. The water potential of 5-mm needle pieces was measured immediately after the needle dissection.

The dry weight of needle samples was measured after drying 24 h in 80°C (V). The relative dry weight was calculated as DW/FW x 100%.

#### 3.4 Frost resistance

Frost resistance of needles was measured according to Taulavuori *et al.* (1996, 1997) (V). The viability of needles was determined by the relative electrolyte leakage method. Frost resistance was expressed as the temperature causing 50% electrolyte leakage (LT<sub>50</sub>), which was calculated using a non-linear logistic function.

# 3.5 Carbohydrate analyses

Soluble sugars and starch contents of dried (80 °C, 24 h) needles were quantitatively determined using the anthrone test (Hansen & Møller 1975, Antikainen & Pihakaski 1994) (II).

## 3.6 Measurements of growth and nitrogen content

The length of apical buds of the main shoot, and later on the length of the growing new shoot, was measured every second day during the height growth period, then less frequently later in the growth period (V). The mean diameter and height growth of the mature trees as well as some other stand and tree characteristics were measured at 5-year intervals (III).

Total nitrogen and carbon contents of the dried needle samples were analyzed using a CHNS analyzer (Automatic Elemental Analyzer EA1110, Fison Instruments S.p.A., Milan, Italy) (V).

#### 3.7 Statistical analyses

The statistical analyses for testing the effects of the different treatments were performed using a one-way ANOVA (I, II), two-way-ANOVA followed by Sheffé's paired comparison (III, V) and an analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) (IV). The correlation in osmotic potentials and relative dehydrin levels was calculated using the non-parametric Kendall's correlation test (I).

#### 4 Results

#### 4.1 Soluble protein concentrations

The concentration of soluble proteins in the needles of Scots pine seedlings increased during the autumn period of cold acclimation (IV), but no significant differences were found in the needles of mature trees during the autumn (I). In spring, the protein concentration of needles both in mature trees and seedlings were stable (I, V), except for seedlings that were fertilized with a nitrogen dose of 884 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (V). A transient decrease in the needle protein concentrations was observed in the 884 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> fertilized seedlings in late April-May (V). The low temperature treatment did not have an effect on the concentration of soluble proteins in the needles (II). However, the concentration of soluble proteins in the needles of the cold-treated seedlings increased 7 and 10 days after the beginning of the low temperature treatment (4 °C).

The soluble protein concentration of buds in mature trees decreased during the spring (I, III), even though the concentration increased temporarily prior to the bud break (I). The bud protein concentrations were lowest during the summer and increased in autumn towards the winter (I, III). Bark soluble protein concentration exhibited an increasing trend from July to March (I). The bark protein concentration decreased in June prior to budbreak, and was at its lowest during the summer (June-August) (I).

Summer fertilization significantly affected soluble protein concentration in needles collected in the following spring (V), but an increase was found in the autumn following the summer fertilizations in seedlings receiving the higher dose of fertilization (884 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>) (IV). There was no effect of the NPK-fertilization on the concentrations of bud soluble proteins (III).

# 4.2 Protein patterning in SDS-PAGE

Patterns of soluble proteins varied seasonally (I, III-V) and in response to nitrogen fertilization (III-V). The seasonal variation of proteins was different in the different tissue

types (needles, buds and bark) (I). SDS-PAGE profiles of needle proteins showed no changes during the cold treatment (II).

The concentration of several polypeptides was higher during winter-spring than in the growth period (I, III-V) and the increase in the relative amount of these protein components was especially marked in bark and bud tissues (I). The molecular masses of the proteins that change in response to season in different tissues are presented in Table 2.

Table 2. Soluble proteins in different tissues of Scots pine that accumulate during cold acclimation in autumn (I, III, IV) or decrease during deacclimation in spring (I, III, V). Proteins that increase in concentration due to N fertilization are marked with asterisks. The numbers indicate the molecular masses of proteins in kDa.

Tissue		Needles		Ві	ıds	Bark
Experiment	I	IV	V	I	III	I
	147			147	147	147
				44		
					40	
	37					
		35*				
	32		32*	32		32
					30	
				29		29
	27			27		
	25	25*	25*		25	
	23					
						22
				21		21
		20*	20*		20	
	19			19		19
					18	
			17*			

An effect of nitrogen fertilization was observed in needles by the increased concentrations of specific protein components (Table 2) (IV-V). In buds, no significant alterations in the amount of proteins in the gels were observed due to NPK fertilization (III). Some proteins (18, 20, 25, 30, 40 and 147 kDa) that fluctuated in amount in the buds seasonally, disappeared from the trees in the NPK-fertilized area in late spring, but were still seen in the buds of unfertilized trees (III).

#### 4.3 Dehydrins

Several dehydrin proteins of different molecular weights were detected in Scots pine tissues (Table 3). Their presence and abundance were dependent on the age of the material (seedling vs. mature tree), season, and the tissue studied.

Table 3. Dehydrin profiles in different Scots pine tissues. The numbers indicate the molecular masses of proteins in kDa.

Tissue	Needles	Buds	Bark
Experiment	I, II, IV, V	I, III	I
		73	
	70	70	
	60	60	60
	56	56	56
	50	50	50
		48	
	47		
	42		
		40	
		37	

In bud and bark of mature trees, and in the needles of seedlings, a 60-kDa dehydrin was most abundant during the winter (I, IV-V) and its content decreased in the spring. The amount of this dehydrin did not markedly increase in autumn in the needles of mature Scots pine, but an increase was observed during the springtime in March-May (I). The needle dehydrins of seedlings did not show any response to low temperature treatment (II), and both in the needles of seedlings and mature trees, no increase in dehydrin content was observed during the hardening period (I, IV).

The number of proteins detected by the dehydrin antibody increased during deacclimation in the spring in all tissues (I, III, V), but the band intensities were low when compared to the intensity of the 60-kDa dehydrin. The 56 and 50-kDa dehydrins were present only during the growth period. A 70-kDa dehydrin appeared in buds before bud break in the experiment I, whereas a dehydrin of the same size was detected during winter in the bud samples of NPK-fertilized pines (III).

Nitrogen fertilization reduced the amount of dehydrins in the needles of seedlings during the acclimation (IV), as well as during the deacclimation period (V). There were more dehydrins of different molecular weights in the needles of fertilized seedlings in autumn than in unfertilized seedlings (IV). The dehydrin content of buds decreased earlier in the fertilized trees in late spring than in the unfertilized trees but, in autumn, the amount of the 50, 48 and 40 kDa dehydrins was lower in the buds of the unfertilized trees (III).

#### 4.4 Water relations

The osmotic potential of needles varied seasonally both in the seedlings and mature trees (I, V). In mature trees, osmotic potentials were lowest during the spring, while the osmotic potential increased during deacclimation in the seedlings (V). Cold treatment decreased the osmotic and water potentials of the seedling needles significantly on the 4th day following the low temperature treatment, and thereafter (II). Nitrogen fertilization did not have any effect on the osmotic potentials of needles in spring (V). The relative dry weight of seedling needles was constant during the dehardening period until 19 May, after which it started to increase (V).

#### 4.5 Frost resistance

The frost resistance of pine needles increased during hardening in autumn (Taulavuori 1998, IV) and decreased during the deacclimation period (V). Frost resistance in this study was not affected by the nitrogen fertilization treatments (Taulavuori 1998, IV, V).

## 4.6 Carbohydrates

Cold treatment increased the concentration of soluble sugars in the needles. The increase was evident the first day after the beginning of the cold treatment (II). Although the sugar concentration started to decrease in the middle of the cold treatment, it stayed higher in the seedlings at 4 °C than in the control seedlings. The concentration of soluble sugars of needles remained stable in the control seedlings.

The concentration of starch decreased significantly in the cold-treated needles until the day 7, after which it began to increase (II). The concentration of starch in the control seedlings at 18 °C was stable at first, but after day 4 the concentration decreased to a level where it remained for the rest of the experiment. On day 10 there were no differences between the treatments, but on day 14 the concentration of starch was significantly higher in the seedlings at 4 °C than in the control seedlings.

# 4.7 Growth and CN-analyses

The height growth of mature trees was not affected by NPK-fertilization but the diameter growth of the fertilized trees was significantly greater (III). Fertilization almost doubled the height growth of the apical bud in the nitrogen-fertilized seedlings, irrespective of the amount nitrogen given, and the growth of terminal buds started earlier in the fertilized seedlings than in the unfertilized control seedlings (V).

Fertilization increased the total nitrogen content in the needles. Nitrogen contents ranged from 0.8-1.2% N g<sup>-1</sup> DW in the unfertilized plants, and from 1.7-2.3% to 2.2-2.8% in the seedlings fertilized with 442 and 884 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively (V). The carbon content of needles was 49-50% of DW in all the treatments (V). In experiment IV, the nitrogen content of needles increased due to the dose and delayed timing of the fertilization (Taulavuori 1998).

#### 5 Discussion

#### 5.1 Responses to season and cold treatment

## 5.1.1 Soluble protein concentration and patterns

Seasonal variation in protein quantity and quality has been studied in several woody plant species. Soluble protein concentrations of pine needles increase during cold acclimation (Pomeroy & Siminovitch 1970, Näsholm & Ericsson 1990, Nozzolillo *et al.* 1990, Sutinen 1992), and decrease during the growth period (Pomeroy & Siminovitch 1970, Wetzel & Greenwood 1989). The results obtained in the present study partially differ from this previous research. The soluble protein concentration of needles did not vary between different months in the mature Scots pines (I) or in the seedlings (V) during deacclimation although an increase in the needles of the seedlings was found in late autumn (IV). Because the previous year's needles are used as storage sites for mineral nutrients, amino acids and proteins in pines (Fife & Nambiar 1984, Gezelius 1986, Wetzel & Greenwood 1989), seasonal changes in protein concentration are thought to result from the retranslocation of nitrogen within the tree (Pomeroy & Siminovitch 1970, Wetzel & Greenwood 1989). The stem of Scots pine can also act as a sink for the storage of nitrogen (Gezelius 1986). This is supported by the observation that the soluble protein concentration of bark started to decrease at the onset of growth in June and increased again during July-September (I).

The concentration of soluble proteins in buds increased simultaneously with hardening in the autumn (I, III) and decreased during deacclimation (III) in accordance with Pietiläinen & Lähdesmäki (1986). The decrease in protein concentration was observed from March (I) or April (III) onwards, when the metabolic activity of buds has been reported to increase (Hohtola *et al.* 1984, Häggman *et al.* 1985, Kupila-Ahvenniemi 1985). The resumption of shoot growth in April-June may explain the decrease in protein concentration in the buds at that time period (I, III).

In evergreen species, seasonal differences in protein quality have been shown in the bark, buds and needles (Wetzel & Greenwood 1989, Pietilä *et al.* 1991, Roberts *et al.* 1991,

Binnie et al. 1994, Ekramoddoullah & Taylor 1996). Changes in protein composition have been also reported in the bark, wood, and bud proteins of deciduous trees (Wetzel et al. 1989, Arora et al. 1992, Arora et al. 1996, Wisniewski et al. 1996, Rinne et al. 1998, Sauter et al. 1999). Some of these seasonally changing proteins in woody plants have been characterized as storage proteins (Wetzel & Greenwood 1989, Wetzel et al. 1989, Arora et al. 1992), photosynthesis-related proteins (Ekramoddoullah & Taylor 1996), dehydrins (Wisniewski et al. 1996, Rinne et al. 1998, Sauter et al. 1999), and heat-shock proteins (Wisniewski et al. 1996). A distinctive seasonal pattern of proteins was seen in the needles of seedlings (IV, V) and in the buds, bark and needles of mature Scots pines (I, III). The proteins that altered in amount in the course of the year appeared to be similar in their molecular weights in different tissues. The most characteristic changes were seen in the bark and bud proteins of mature trees at the onset of growth (I). Several protein components on the SDS-PAGE gels decreased in amount compared to the winter. One function for the proteins that fluctuate in amount in response to the annual rhythm in trees is suggested to be the storage of nitrogen (Coleman & Chen 1996), that is used for the new growth in spring. Bark is the main nitrogen storage organ during dormancy in deciduous trees, but conifers are also known to accumulate VSPs in bark tissues (Wetzel & Greenwood 1989). Proteins that showed seasonal fluctuation in bark (I) were of similar molecular mass as the needle proteins of seedlings (IV, V) that increased in concentration due to nitrogen-fertilization. Thus it may be that these proteins serve as a source for nitrogen reserves in both needle and bark tissues of Scots pine.

The difference between the patterns of needle proteins of seedlings (IV, V) and mature trees (I) was greater than the difference between the needle, bud and bark tissues in mature trees (I). Maturation is known to alter the metabolism of woody plants, so that differences between the adult and juvenile plant have been found e.g. in the metabolism of carbohydrates, phenolic compounds, polyamines and hormones (see references in Haffner *et al.* 1991). The needle characteristics in conifers, such as needle form, pigment content, surface waxes and CO<sub>2</sub> fixation (Hutchinson & Greenwood 1991), and the proteins of deciduous trees (Snowball *et al.* 1991, Hand *et al.* 1996) have also been reported to change in association with maturation.

# 5.1.2 Dehydrins

The accumulation of dehydrin proteins and their transcripts are induced in plant tissues by low temperature stress (Lång et al. 1989, Guy et al. 1992, Welin et al. 1994). In woody plants, dehydrins are also induced during the natural cold hardening period in autumn and their amounts decrease in spring when dehardening of tissues takes place (Wisniewski et al. 1996, Golan-Goldhirsh et al. 1998, Rinne et al. 1998, Sauter et al. 1999). However, in the present study, no significant increase in dehydrin content was observed in the needles of Scots pine during the cold hardening period (I, IV), nor did the cold-treated seedlings induce dehydrin synthesis (II). Some dehydrin proteins are also constitutively present in wood tissues of trees (Wisniewski et al. 1996). Dehydrin proteins of different sizes

appeared in both cold acclimated and deacclimated Scots pine tissues (I, III-V), but some dehydrins were found in all samples irrespective of the season or treatment (I-V).

A 60-kDa dehydrin exhibited seasonal changes and was also associated with times when the cold or dehydration stress was severe. This dehydrin was detected in high amounts in both buds and bark of mature trees during the winter (I), as well as in the needles of deacclimating seedlings (V), where its content decreased during the spring. The 60-kDa dehydrin was seen in the needles of fertilized seedlings only in August (IV). The content of this dehydrin did not markedly increase in the needles of mature Scots pine in autumn, but an increase was observed during the springtime in March-May (I). The dehydrins and other low temperature induced proteins are reported to be regulated by osmotic stress (Guy *et al.* 1992, Wang & Cutler 1995) and the increase in the amount of the 60-kDa dehydrin was associated with the lower osmotic potential in the needles (I). Changes in temperature have also induced transient changes in dehydrin protein patterns in *Populus* (Sauter *et al.* 1999). This could explain the observed decrease in the amount of the 60-kDa dehydrin in March, which was seen both in the bud and bark tissues of mature trees (I).

In addition to the 60-kDa dehydrin, several other dehydrins were detected in bud, bark and needle tissues. Most of these were seen during the spring (I, V) or autumn (I, IV) and their appearance was related to the decrease of the 60-kDa dehydrin in spring. This suggests that the observed dehydrins may be degradation products of the 60-kDa dehydrin. The other dehydrins were also seen in the cold-treated seedlings as well as in the deacclimated, growing seedlings in the control treatment (II).

The dehydrin content in the buds of mature Scots pine decreased in spring (I) until April-May when an increase was observed (I, III). The increase may have been a result of budbreak and the subsequent lack of a protective sheath around the emerging needles, as was suggested by Richard *et al.* (2000). Young, developing needles may suffer from dehydrative stress since the wax layers of young needles are not fully developed. In experiment III, the amount of different dehydrins in the buds also increased in spring. The difference in the molecular weights of the bud proteins in experiments I and III is most likely due to the different extraction methods used.

Dehydrins in needles of Scots pine seedlings were not induced by low temperature treatment (II), which is in contrast with many reports obtained from herbaceous plants (Lång et al. 1989, Guy et al. 1992, Welin et al. 1994, Bravo et al. 1999). Dehydrin genes or proteins in the seedlings of other *Pinus*-species have not shown any response to drought stress either (Chang et al. 1996, Costa et al. 1998). On the other hand, the dehydrin genes of *Picea glauca* needles can be activated with cold treatment in 8 hours and a significant accumulation of the transcript was observed in 48 hours, but the level of dehydrin proteins was not measured (Richard et al. 2000). The lack of response may be due to the age of the plants, since in *Rhododendron*, juvenile plants accumulated a lower level of dehydrins and also had a lower freezing tolerance than mature plants (Lim et al. 1999). A reduced response of a dehydrin gene expression has also been observed in water-stressed sorghum seedlings when compared to the mature plants (Wood & Goldsbrough 1997).

Although Scots pine shoots can achieve significant freezing resistance in response to low temperature alone (Christersson 1978, Smit-Spinks *et al.* 1985), shortening photoperiods also trigger cold acclimation in Scots pine (Taulavuori *et al.* 1997). Because some dehydrins are connected to seasonal changes, variation in daylength may also have an

effect on the regulation of dehydrins. Photoperiod can regulate dehydrins in *Betula pubescens* (Welling *et al.* 1997, Rinne *et al.* 1999), and some dehydrin transcripts in *Helianthus annuus* have been reported to exhibit diurnal fluctuation (Cellier *et al.* 2000).

#### 5.1.3 Water relations and carbohydrates

Extracellular freezing causes withdrawal of water from cells (Sakai & Larcher 1987, Uemura & Steponkus 1999). The accumulation of solutes that is induced by exposure to low temperatures, prevents cells from excessive loss of water. The decrease in osmotic potential of tissues during cellular dehydration is suggested to result from the accumulation of soluble sugars in cells, although other compounds also contribute to it (Ingram & Bartels 1996). The osmotic potential of needles decreased in cold-treated Scots pine seedlings (II) and during the autumn in mature trees (I). Needle water potential followed the same pattern as osmotic potential in cold-treated seedlings (II). The decrease in osmotic and water potential cannot be totally explained by sugars, because osmotic potential decreased even when sugar concentrations started to decrease in the cold treatment (II).

Osmotic potential increase during deacclimation in conifer seedlings (Wang & Zwiazek 1999), which was also detected in experiment V. A decrease in the water content of mature Scots pine needles has been observed during the spring (Huttunen *et al.* 1981, Havas & Hyvärinen 1990, Sutinen *et al.* 2000) and a significant reduction in osmotic potential occurred in mature Scots pine needles during March-May (I). The difference between the osmotic potentials of mature trees and seedlings may result from the fact that seedlings that overwinter below snow cover have a better availability of water. Furthermore, mature trees can be exposed to sun and frost in spring (Sutinen *et al.* 2000). The lack of snow cover in wintertime causes dehydration stress also in bilberry, which is seen as a lowered osmotic potential in spring compared to plants below the snow (Havas 1971).

Soluble sugars accumulate in woody plants during the natural hardening period in autumn (Pomeroy & Siminovitch 1970, Nozzolillo *et al.* 1990, Fischer & Höll 1991, Oleksyn *et al.* 2000) and their concentrations in conifer needles are positively correlated with frost hardiness (Aronsson *et al.* 1976, Ögren *et al.* 1997, Greer *et al.* 2000). Lowering of sugar content is reported to decrease the frost resistance of spruce and pine (Ögren *et al.* 1997). The increase in sugar concentration may be a result from the degradation of starch (Fischer & Höll 1991), since starch concentration in needles of conifers decreases during cold acclimation (Aronsson *et al.* 1976, Fischer & Höll 1991, Greer *et al.* 2000). In this study, the concentrations of soluble sugars increased at the same time as a decrease in the starch concentration in the needles of the cold-treated seedlings was observed (II).

The soluble sugar concentration of needles started to decline after 10 days in the cold treatment while the starch content of needles began to increase (II). This indicates that the acclimation of Scots pine seedlings to low temperature happened in less than 10 days (II). Since low temperatures cause photoinhibition in Scots pine needles (Krivosheeva *et al.* 1996), the increase in the starch concentration may be a sign of the recovery of photosynthesis in the cold. The accumulation of sugars may also indicate the lack of an active sink in the cold-treated seedlings (Fischer & Höll 1991), because their growth was

repressed. Starch accumulates in conifer needles before budbreak in the spring (Pomeroy *et al.* 1970, Fischer & Höll 1991, Oleksyn *et al.* 2000), when the photosynthetic activity is already high. The accumulated carbohydrate pool declines after the onset of shoot growth (Ericsson 1979, Fischer & Höll 1991, Oleksyn *et al.* 2000). The depletion of soluble sugars and starch in the needles occurred concomitant to the beginning of growth in the pine seedlings grown at the control temperature (18 °C) (II). The sugar concentration of needles decreased at the same time as the starch concentration, which also supports the assumption that sugars are allocated to the growing shoot.

### **5.2 Responses to nitrogen fertilization**

Nitrogen and protein concentrations in needles increased in the seedlings that were analyzed during the spring (V). However, the summer fertilizations did not induce a rise in protein concentration of needles in autumn (IV), although the nitrogen contents of the seedlings were markedly elevated by the fertilization (IV, Taulavuori 1998). The nitrogen may be translocated to other nitrogenous compounds in the early autumn. A high level of the polyamines putrescine and spermine accumulated in the nitrogen-fertilized seedlings in the same experiment (Taulavuori *et al.* 1999b) and the concentration of amino acids is known to increase in response to nitrogen fertilization in Scots pine (Näsholm & Ericsson 1990). The increased protein content of fertilized needles in spring (V) may be explained by the adequate time to incorporate the nitrogen into proteins. The rise in protein concentration was also seen in the soluble protein patterns, where the amounts of certain components were found to be higher in the N-fertilized seedlings (V). The protein content of buds in the NPK-fertilized trees showed no response to fertilization (III) which may be due to the fact that needles and bark are regarded to be the major nutrient reserve for growth in conifers (Fife & Nambiar 1984, Gezelius 1986).

Soluble protein patterns of both buds (III) and needles (IV, V) showed differences in response to nitrogen fertilization. Some proteins in the needles were more abundant in the nitrogen-fertilized seedlings, which suggests that the proteins could act as a storage form of nitrogen. The abundance of bark storage proteins (Coleman *et al.* 1994), as well as the VSP homologues in the leaves of *Populus* (Lawrence *et al.* 1997), are regulated by nitrogen availability. A decrease in certain protein components was also seen in the buds of fertilized trees in spring, while the amounts of these proteins were unchanged in the unfertilized trees. This observation may indicate an earlier growth start in the fertilized trees (Bobbink *et al.* 1992).

The amount of 60-kDa dehydrin in Scots pine tissues (I, V), which was highest in winter, decreased earlier in the N-fertilized seedlings than in the unfertilized seedlings during deacclimation (V). The level of this dehydrin declined in the fertilized seedlings during the autumn while it was not detected at all in the unfertilized seedlings (IV). Because nitrogen fertilization increases leaf biomass and area of trees (Nilsen 1995, Fife & Nambiar 1996), it may also affect their water use. Fertilization has been shown to increase the consumption of water (Nilsen 1995). Also, an increased sensitivity to drought has been detected in plants that have been receiving an excess of nitrogen (Dueck *et al.* 1998,

Gordon *et al.* 1999). The appearance of the 60-kDa dehydrin in the N-fertilized seedlings may thus reflect the difference in the water status of fertilized and unfertilized plants.

Nitrogen fertilization increases the growth of conifers (Valinger 1992, Hynynen 1995, Fife & Nambiar 1997) and the level of nitrogenous substances in them (Zedler *et al.* 1986, Ferm *et al.* 1990, Näsholm & Ericsson 1990, Taulavuori *et al.* 1999b). The apical shoot growth of the seedlings increased due to nitrogen fertilization but the dose of fertilizer did not affect the degree of growth (V). NPK-fertilization also increased the diameter growth of trees (III).

The impact of nitrogen on frost resistance varies according to species, the amount and the form of nitrogen. The age of the plant has also shown to affect the response. Ammonia fumigation has caused frost sensitivity in the needles of mature Scots pine (Clement 1996), but not in seedlings (Clement *et al.* 1999). The dieback of Scots pine near farms emitting high amounts of ammonia (Ferm *et al.* 1990, Pietilä *et al.* 1991) has been suggested to be the consequence of frost injuries. The Scots pine seedlings frost hardened in autumn (Taulavuori 1998, IV) and deacclimated during the spring (V) in a natural regime. The frost resistance of needles was not affected by nitrogen fertilization in the Scots pine seedlings (V, Taulavuori 1998). Although seedlings fertilized with nitrogen are reported to begin their growth earlier in the spring (Bobbink *et al.* 1992), the earlier growth start of fertilized seedlings that was observed here did not affect the frost resistance of needles (IV). Because frost resistance may vary between different tissues within the plant (Weiser 1970, Sakai & Larcher 1987) and most of the injuries detected in Scots pine occur in the buds, the measurement of needle frost resistance may not be an adequate indicator of the hardiness of this species.

# **5.3** Future prospects

In this research I have shown for the first time the role of dehydrins in the metabolism of Scots pine. Several dehydrins were found during different experiments. A 60-kDa dehydrin observed in all the tissues studied was related to the development of frost resistance or to the decreasing osmotic potential. The dehydrins of needles in Scots pine seedlings showed no response to low temperature treatment. A possible extension of this study would address the regulation of dehydrin-related proteins and dehydrin gene expression during cold and drought stress and the effect of photoperiod on Scots pine. Also the interesting finding that dehydrin expression between mature and juvenile Scots pine showed a difference warrants further research. Characterization of proteins that respond to the change of season and to nitrogen fertilization with increasing concentration would give more information about the metabolism of Scots pine during frost resistance or dormancy transitions.

The results of nitrogen fertilization experiments on the water balance of Scots pine as well as on dehydrin expression suggested a difference in the water status of fertilized and unfertilized plants. Since nitrogen fertilization did not show an effect on the frost resistance of needles, a more detailed study on the frost resistance of buds and on the water relations of needles and buds would clarify the effects of nitrogen fertilization on Scots pine.

#### **6 Conclusions**

The dehydrin proteins in Scots pine tissues fluctuated in response to changes in season and nitrogen fertilization. A 60-kDa dehydrin was found to be dominant in buds and bark of mature trees and in needles of seedlings in the winter. This dehydrin increased in concentration in needles of mature trees in the spring. The increases in concentration were related to the development of frost resistance or to the decreasing osmotic potential, which may indicate that the 60-kDa dehydrin is linked to the resistance to frost and desiccation stresses during the winter. Other dehydrins were also found in the pine tissues but they were seen during the summer or deacclimation. In mature trees, different dehydrins appeared in the buds during the springtime, which may indicate alterations in the water balance of buds as was detected in the needles. Because the low temperature treatment alone did not induce any dehydrins in the needles, the regulation of dehydrins by other factors, such as photoperiod, is possible. However, these results were obtained in the seedlings and their response may differ from that of the mature trees. Therefore the effect of the low temperature on the induction of dehydrins in Scots pine needles cannot be excluded.

Soluble protein concentration exhibited a seasonal pattern in bark and buds of mature trees, as well as in acclimating seedlings. Several specific soluble proteins increased in amount during the winter in Scots pine tissues and some of these were more abundant in the nitrogen-fertilized seedlings. These proteins may serve as storage compounds to support new growth in the spring, because their concentration in tissues decreased at the onset of growth. Other roles of these proteins, e.g. in frost resistance or dormancy transitions of Scots pine, warrants further research.

Soluble sugar and starch concentrations responded to low temperature treatment immediately. Their levels started to change direction again in less than ten days, which may reflect the acclimation of carbohydrate metabolism to low temperature.

Nitrogen fertilization increased the growth and the amount of proteins in Scots pine, but did not affect frost resistance or the osmotic potential of needles in seedlings. However, the results of the soluble protein and dehydrin studies indicate that the earlier growth start of the fertilized plants may have an effect on their water balance and thus affect their tolerance to dehydration related stresses.

# 7 References

- Abunizadah RA & Read DJ (1986a) The role of proteins in the nitrogen nutrition of ectomycorrhizal plants. I. Utilization of peptides and proteins by ectomycorrhizal fungi. New Phytol 103: 481-493.
- Abunizadah RA & Read DJ (1986b) The role of proteins in the nitrogen nutrition of ectomycorrhizal plants. III. Protein utilization by *Betula*, *Picea* and *Pinus* in mycorrhizal association with *Hebeloma crustuliniforme*. New Phytol 103: 507-514.
- Abunizadah RA, Finlay RD & Read DJ (1986) The role of proteins in the nitrogen nutrition of ectomycorrhizal plants. II. Utilization of proteins by mycorrhizal plants of *Pinus contorta*. New Phytol 103: 495-506.
- Antikainen M & Pihakaski S (1994) Early developments in RNA, protein, and sugar levels during cold stress in winter rye (*Secale cereale*) leaves. Ann Bot 74: 335-341.
- Aronsson A, Ingestadt T & Lööf LG (1976) Carbohydrate metabolism and frost hardiness in pine and spruce seedlings grown at different photoperiods and thermoperiods. Physiol Plant 36: 127-132.
- Arora R, Wisniewski ME & Scorza R (1992) Cold acclimation in genetically related (sibling) deciduous and evergreen peach (*Prunus persica* [L.] Batsch). I. Seasonal changes in cold hardiness and polypeptides of bark and xylem tissues. Plant Physiol 99: 1562-1568.
- Arora R, Wisniewski M & Rowland L (1996) Cold Acclimation and alterations in dehydrin-like and bark storage proteins in the leaves of sibling deciduous and evergreen peach. J Am Soc Hortic Sci 121: 915-919
- Arora R, Rowland LJ & Panta GR (1997) Chill-responsive dehydrins in blueberry: Are they associated with cold hardiness or dormancy transitions? Physiol Plant 101:8-16.
- Beardmore T, Wetzel S, Burgess D & Charest PJ (1996) Characterization of seed storage proteins in *Populus* and their homology with *Populus* vegetative storage proteins. Tree Physiol 16: 833-840.
- Beardmore T, Wetzel S & Kalous M (2000) Interactions of airborne methyl jasmonate with vegetative storage protein gene and protein accumulation and biomass partitioning in *Populus* plants. Can J For Res 30: 1106-1113.
- Bigras F (1996) Conifer bud dormancy and stress resistance: A forestry perspective. In: Lang GA (ed) Plant Dormancy. Physiology, biochemistry and molecular biology. CAB International, Oxon, p 171-192.
- Binnie SC, Grossnickle SC & Roberts DR (1994) Fall acclimation patterns of interior spruce seedlings and their relationship to changes in vegetative storage proteins. Tree Physiol 14: 1107-1120.
- Bobbink R, Boxman D, Fremstad E, Heil G, Houdijk A & Roelofs J (1992) Critical loads for nitrogen eutrophication of terrestrial and wetland ecosystems based upon changes in vegetation and fauna. In: Grennfelt P & Thörnelöf E (eds) Critical Loads for Nitrogen -a workshop report. Report from a workshop held at Lökeberg, Sweden, 6-10 April, 1992. Nordic Council of Ministers, Copenhagen, p 111-159.

- Borovskii GB, Stupnikova IV, Antipina AI, Downs CA & Voinikov VK (2000) Accumulation of dehydrin-like proteins in the mitochondria of cold-treated plants. J Plant Physiol 156:797-800.
- Bradford MM (1976) A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. Anal Biochem 72: 248-254.
- Bravo LA, Close TJ, Corcuera LJ & Guy CL (1999) Characterization of an 80-kDa dehydrin-like protein in barley responsive to cold acclimation. Physiol Plant 106: 177-183.
- Bray E (1993) Molecular responses to water deficit. Plant Physiol 103: 1035-1040.
- Bray E (1994) Alterations in gene expression in response to water deficit. In: Basra AS (ed) Stress-Induced Gene Expression in Plants. Harwood Academic Publishers, Chur, p 1-23.
- Burke MJ, Gusta LV, Quamme HA, Weiser CJ & Li PH (1976) Freezing and injury in plants. Annu Rev Plant Physiol 27: 507-528.
- Cannell MGR & Sheppard LJ (1982) Seasonal changes in the frost hardiness of provenances of *Picea sitchensis* in Scotland, UK. Forestry 55: 137-154.
- Cape JN, Leith ID, Fowler D, Murray MB, Sheppard LJ, Eamus D & Wilson RHF (1991) Sulphate and ammonium in mist impair the frost hardening of red spruce seedlings. New Phytol 118: 119-126.
- Cellier F, Conéjéro G & Casse F (2000) Dehydrin transcript fluctuations during a day/night cycle in drought-stressed sunflower. J Exp Bot 51: 299-304.
- Chang S, Puryear JD, Dias ADL, Funkhouser E, Newton E & Cairney J (1996) Gene expression under water deficit in loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda*): Isolation and characterization of cDNA clones. Physiol Plant 97: 139-148.
- Christersson L (1978) The influence of photoperiod on the development of frost hardiness in the seedlings of *Pinus sylvestris* and *Picea abies*. Physiol Plant 44: 288-294.
- Clement JMAM (1996) Interaction of atmospheric ammonia pollution with frost tolerance of plants. A study on winter wheat and Scots pine. PhD Thesis, Rijksuniversiteit Groningen.
- Clement JMAM, van Hasselt PR, van der Eerden LJM & Dueck TA(1999) Short-term exposure to atmospheric ammonia does not affect frost hardening of needles from three- and five-year-old Scots pine trees. J Plant Physiol 154: 775-780.
- Cleve van B & Apel K (1993) Induction by nitrogen and low temperature of storage-protein synthesis in poplar trees exposed to long days. Planta 189: 157-160.
- Close TJ (1996) Dehydrins: Emergence of a biochemical role of a family of plant dehydration proteins. Physiol Plant 97: 795-803.
- Close TJ (1997) Dehydrins: A commonality in the response of plants to dehydration and low temperature. Physiol Plant 100: 291-296.
- Close TJ, Fenton RD & Moonan F (1993) A view of plant dehydrins using antibodies specific to the carboxy terminal peptide. Plant Mol Biol 23: 279-286.
- Coleman GD, Chen THH & Fuchigami LH (1992) Complementary DNA cloning of popular bark storage protein and control of its expression by photoperiod. Plant Physiol 98: 687-693.
- Coleman GD, Pilar Bañados M & Chen THH (1994) Poplar bark storage protein and a related wound-induced gene are differentially induced by nitrogen. Plant Physiol 106: 211-215.
- Coleman GD & Chen THH (1996) Photoperiod-associated gene expression during dormancy in woody perennials. In: Lang GA (ed) Plant Dormancy. Physiology, biochemistry and molecular biology, CAB International, Oxon, p 301-309.
- Costa P, Bahrman N, Frigerio JM, Kremer A & Plomion C (1998) Water-deficit responsive proteins in maritime pine. Plant Mol Biol 38: 587-596.
- Crowe JH, Carpenter JF, Crowe LM & Anchordoguy TJ (1990) Are freezing and dehydration similar stress vectors? A comparison of modes of interaction of stabilizing solutes with biomolecules. Cryobiology 27: 219-231.
- Davis JM, Egelkrout EE, Coleman GD, Chen THH, Haissig BE, Riemenschneider DE & Gordon MP (1993) A family of wound-induced genes in *Populus* shares common features with genes encoding vegetative storage proteins. Plant Mol Biol 23: 135-143.
- DeHayes DH, Ingle MA & Waite CE (1989) Nitrogen fertilization enhances cold tolerance of red spruce seedling. Can J For Res 19: 1037-1043.

- Delseny M, Gaubier P, Hull G, Saez-Vascuez J, Gallois P, Raynal M, Cooke R & Grellet F (1994) Nuclear genes expressed during seed desiccation: Relationship with responses to stress. In: Basra AS (ed) Stress-Induced Gene Expression in Plants. Harwood Academic Publishers, Chur, p 25-59.
- Dijk van HFG & Roelofs JGM (1988) Effects of excessive ammonium deposition on the nutritional status and condition of pine needles. Physiol Plant 73: 494-501.
- Doorenbos J (1953) Review of the literature on dormancy in buds of woody plants. Mededelingen van de Landbouwhogeschool te Wageningen/Nederland 53: 1-24.
- Dormling I (1993) Bud dormancy, frost hardiness, and frost drought in seedlings of *Pinus sylvestris* and *Picea abies*. In: Li PH & Christersson L (eds) Advances in Plant Cold Hardiness. CRC Press, Boca Raton, p 285-298.
- Dueck ThA, Dorèl FG, Ter Horst R & van der Eerden LJ (1990) Efects of ammonia, ammoniom sulphate and sulphur dioxide the frost sensitivity of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.). Water Air Soil Pollut 54: 35-49.
- Dueck ThA, Zuin A & Elderson J (1998) Influence of ammonia and ozone on growth and drought sensitivity of *Pinus sylvestris*. Atmospheric Environment 32: 545-550.
- Dure L III (1993) Structural motifs in LEA proteins of higher plants. In: Close TJ & Bray EA (eds) Response of Plants to Cellular dehydration During Environmental Stress. American Society of Plant Physiologists, Rockville, MD, p 91-103.
- Eerden van der LJM & Perez-Soba MGFJ (1992) Physiological responses of *Pinus sylvestris* to atmospheric ammonia. Trees 6: 48-53.
- Ekramoddoullah AKM & Taylor DW (1996) Seasonal variation of Western white pine (*Pinus monticola* D. Don) foliage proteins. Plant Cell Physiol 37: 189-199.
- Entry JA, Runion GB, Prior SA, Mitchell RJ & Rogers HH (1998) Influence of CO<sub>2</sub> enrichment and nitrogen fertilization on tissue chemistry and carbon allocation in longleaf pine seedlings. Plant Soil 200: 3-11.
- Ericsson A (1979) Effects of fertilization and irrigation on the seasonal changes of carbohydrate reserves in different age-classes of needle on 20-year-old Scots pine trees (*Pinus silvestris*). Physiol Plant 45: 270-280.
- Fangmeier A, Hadwiger-Fangmeier A, Van der Eerden L & Jäger HJ (1994) Effects of atmospheric ammonia on vegetation. A review. Environ Pollut 86: 43-82.
- Ferm A, Hytönen J, Lähdesmäki P, Pietiläinen P & Pätilä A (1990) Effects of high nitrogen deposition on forests: Case studies close to fur animal farms. In: Kauppi P, Anttila P & Kenttämies K (eds) Acidification in Finland. Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg, p 635-668.
- Fife DN & Nambiar EKS (1984) Movement of nutrients in radiata pine needles in relation to the growth of shoots. Ann Bot 54: 303-314
- Fife DN & Nambiar EKS (1996) Effect of nitrogen on the growth and water relations of radiata pine families. Plant Soil 168-169: 279-285.
- Fife DN & Nambiar EKS (1997) Changes in the canopy and growth of *Pinus radiata* in response to nitrogen supply. Forest Ecol Manag 93: 137-152.
- Finlay RD, Frostegård Å & Sonnerfeldt AM (1992) Utilization of organic and inorganic nitrogen sources by ectomycorrhizal fungi in pure culture and in symbiosis with *Pinus contorta* Dougl. Ex Loud. New Phytol 120: 105-115.
- Fischer C & Höll W (1991) Food reserves in Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.). I. Seasonal changes in the carbohydrate and fat reserves of pine needles. Trees 5: 187-195.
- Flaig H & Mohr H (1992) Assimilation of nitrate and ammonium by the Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) seedlings under conditions of high nitrogen supply. Physiol Plant 84: 568-576.
- Gezelius K (1986) Free amino acids and total nitrogen during shoot development in Scots pine seedlings. Physiol Plant 67: 435-441.
- Gezelius K & Näsholm T (1993) Free amino acids and protein in Scots pine seedlings cultivated at different nutrient availabilities. Tree Physiol 13: 71-86.
- Golan-Goldhirsh A, Peri I, Birk Y & Smirnoff P (1998) Inflorescence bud proteins of *Pistachia vera*. Trees 12: 415-419.

- Gordon C, Woodin SJ, Alexander IJ & Mullins CE (1999) Effects of increased temperature, drought and nitrogen supply on two upland perennials of contrasting functional type: *Calluna vulgaris* and *Pteridium aquilinum*. New Phytol 142: 243-258.
- Greer DH, Robinson LA, Hall AJ, Klages K & Donnison H (2000) Frost hardening of *Pinus radiata* seedlings: effects of temperature on relative growth rate, carbon balance and carbohydrate concentration. Tree Physiol 20: 107-114.
- Griffith M, Ala P, Yang DSC, Hon WC & Moffatt BA (1992) Antifreeze protein produced endogenously in winter rye leaves. Plant Physiol 100: 593-596.
- Guy CH (1990) Cold acclimation and freezing stress tolerance: Role of protein metabolism. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 41: 187-223.
- Guy C, Haskell D, Neven L Klein P & Smelser C (1992) Hydration-state-responsive proteins link cold and drought stress in spinach. Planta 188: 265-270.
- Guy C, Haskell D & Li QB (1998) Association of proteins with the stress 70 molecular chaperones at low temperature: Evidence for the existence of cold labile proteins in spinach. Cryobiology 36: 301-314.
- Haffner V, Enjalric F, Lardet L & Carron MP (1991) Maturation of woody plants: a review of metabolic and genomic aspects. Ann Sci For 48: 615-630.
- Häggman H, Hohtola A & Kupila-Ahvenniemi S (1985) Variation in the polysome assembly and incorporation of [3H]-uridine in the cells of pine buds during the cold season. Physiol Plant 65: 409-417.
- Hand P, Besford RT, Richardson CM & Peppitt SD (1996) Antibodies to phase related proteins in juvenile and mature *Prunus avium*. Plant Growth Regul 20: 25-29.
- Hansen J & Møller I (1975) Percolation of starch and soluble carbohydrates from plant tissue for quantitative determination with anthrone. Anal Biochem 68: 87-94.
- Harlow E & Lane D (1988) Antibodies. A Laboratory Manual. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, New York, NY, p 471-510.
- Havas P (1971) The water economy of the bilberry (Vaccinium myrtillus) under winter conditions. Rep Kevo Subarctic Res Stat 8: 41-52.
- Havas P & Hyvärinen M (1990) Effect of cutting on the winter water economy of the Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris). Ann Bot Fennici 27: 169-175.
- Hellergren J (1981) Frost hardiness development in *Pinus silvestris* seedlings in response to fertilization. Physiol Plant 52: 297-301.
- Hellergren J, Widell S, Lundborg T & Kylin A (1983) Frosthardiness development in *Pinus sylvestris*: The involvement of a K\*-stimulated Mg<sub>2</sub>\*-dependent ATPase from purified plasma membranes of pine. Physiol Plant 58: 7-12.
- Hincha DK, Heber U & Schmitt JM (1990) Proteins from frost hardy leaves protect thylakoids against mechanical freeze-thaw damage in vitro. Planta 180: 416-419.
- Hohtola A, Kupila-Ahvenniemi S, Ohtonen R (1984) Seasonal changes in the cytoplasmic structures of sporogenous cells of Scotch pine. Ann Bot Fenn 21: 143-149.
- Howarth CJ & Ougham HJ (1993) Tansley review No. 51. Gene expression under temperature stress. New Phytol 125: 1-26.
- Hughes MA & Dunn MA (1996) The molecular biology of plant acclimation to low temperature. J Exp Bot 47: 291-305.
- Hurme P, Repo T, Savolainen O & Pääkkönen T (1997) Climatic adaptation of bud set and frost hardiness in Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*). Can J For Res 27: 716-723.
- Hutchison KW & Greenwood MS (1991) Molecular approaches to gene expression during conifer development and maturation. Forest Ecol Manag 43: 273-286.
- Huttunen S, Havas P & Laine K (1981) Effects of air pollutants on the wintertime water economy of the Scots pine Pinus silvestris. Holarct Ecol 4: 94-101.
- Hynynen J (1995) Modelling tree growth for managed stands. The Finnish Forest Research Institute Research Papers. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 576: 1-80.
- Ingram J & Bartels D (1996) The molecular basis of cellular dehydration tolerance in plants. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 47: 377-403.

- Jaglo-Ottosen KR, Gilmour SJ, Zarka DG, Schabenberger O & Thomashow MF (1998) *Arabidopsis* CBF1 over-expression induces *cor* genes and enhances freezing tolerance. Science 280: 104-106.
- Jalkanen R & Aalto T (1993) The effect of nitrogen fertilization on damage to and growth of Scots pine on a mineral soil site in Sodankylä, northern Finland. In: Jalkanen R, Aalto T & Lahti ML (eds) Forest Pathological Research in Northern Forests with a Special Reference to Abiotic Stress Factors. Extended SNS Meeting in forest pathology in Lapland, Finland, 3-7 August, 1992. Finnish Forest Research Institute Research Papers, Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 451, p 61-76
- Jarvis SB, Taylor MA, MacLeod MR & Davies HV (1996) Cloning and characterisation of the cDNA clones of three genes that are differentially expressed during dormancy-breakage in the seeds of Douglas fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*). J Plant Physiol 147: 559-566.
- Jensen AB, Goday A, Figueras M, Jessop AC & Pagès M (1998) Phosphorylation mediates the nuclear targeting of the maize Rab17 protein. Plant J 13: 691-697.
- Jokela A (1998) Structural and functional responses of Scots pine needles to nutrient stress. Acta Univ Oul A 308.
- Jouve L, Frank T, Gaspar T, Cattivelli L & Hausman JF (2000) Poplar acclimation to cold during in vitro conservation at low non-freezing temperature: metabolic and proteic changes. J Plant Physiol 157: 117-123.
- Krivosheeva A, Tao DL, Ottander C, Wingsle G, Dube' S & Öquist G (1996) Cold acclimation and photoinhibition of photosynthesis in Scots pine. Planta 200: 296-305.
- Kupila-Ahvenniemi S (1985) Wintertime changes in the fine structure and the ribosome content of the buds of Scots pine. In: Kaurin Å, Junttila O, Nielsen J (eds) Plant production in the north. Tromso, Norwegian University Press, p 171-180.
- Laemmli UK (1970) Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature 227: 680-685.
- Lang GA, Early JD, Martin GC & Darnell RL (1987) Endo-, para-, and ecodormancy: Physiological terminology and classification for dormancy research. HortScience 22: 371-377.
- Lång V, Heino P & Palva T (1989) Low temperature acclimation and treatment with exogenous abscisic acid induce common polypeptides in *Arabidopsis thaliana* (L.) Heynh. Theor Appl Genet 77:729-734.
- Langheinrich U & Tischener R (1991) Vegetative storage proteins in poplar. Induction and characterization of a 32- and a 36-kilodalton polypeptide. Plant Physiol 97: 1017-1025.
- Lawrence SD, Greenwood JS, Korhnak TE & Davis JM (1997) A vegetative storage protein homolog is expressed in the growing shoot apex of hybrid poplar. Planta 203: 237-244.
- Levi A, Panta GR, Parmentier CM, Muthalif MM, Arora R, Shanker S & Rowland LJ (1999) Complementary DNA cloning, sequencing and expression of an unusual dehydrin from blueberry floral buds. Physiol Plant 107: 98-109.
- Levitt J (1972) Responses of plants to environmental stresses. Academic press, New York.
- L'Hirondelle SJ, Jacobson JS & Lassoie JP (1992) Acidic mist and nitrogen fertilization effects on growth, nitrate reductase activity, gas exchange, and frost hardiness of red spruce seedlings. New Phytol 121: 611-622.
- Lim CC, Krebs SL & Arora R (1999) A 25-kDa dehydrin associated with genotype- and age-dependent leaf freezing-tolerance in *Rhododendron*: a genetic marker for cold hardiness. Theor Appl Genet 99: 912-920.
- Margolis HA & Waring RH (1986) Carbon and nitrogen allocation patterns of Douglas-fir seedlings fertilized with nitrogen in autumn. II. Field performance. Can J For Res 16: 903-909.
- Näsholm T & Ericsson A (1990) Seasonal changes in amino acids, protein and total nitrogen in needles of fertilized Scots pine trees. Tree Physiol 6: 267-281.
- Näsholm T, Edfast A, Ericsson A & Nordén L (1994) Accumulation of amino acids in some boreal forest plants in response to increased nitrogen availability. New Phytol 126: 137-143.
- Näsholm T, Ekblad A, Nordin A, Giesler R, Högberg M & Högberg P (1998) Boreal forest plants take up organic nitrogen. Nature 392: 914-916.

- Neuhoff V, Arold N, Taube D & Eirhardt W (1988) Improved staining of proteins in polyacrylamide gels including isoelectric focusing gels with clear background at nanogram sensitivity using Coomassie Brilliant Blue G-250 and R-250. Electrophoresis 9: 255-262.
- Nilsen P (1995) Effect of nitrogen on drought strain and nutrient uptake in Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.) trees. Plant Soil 172: 73-85
- Nozzolillo C, Isabelle P & Das G (1990) Seasonal changes in the phenolic constituents of jack pine seedlings (*Pinus banksiana*) in relation to the purpling phenomenon. Can J Bot 68: 2010-2017.
- Ögren E, Nilsson T & Sundblad LG (1997) Relationship between respiratory depletion of sugars and loss of cold hardiness in coniferous seedlings over-wintering at raised temperatures: indications of different sensitivities of spruce and pine. Plant Cell Environ 20: 247-253.
- Oleksyn J, Zytkowiak R, Karolewski P, Reich PB & Tjoelker MG (2000) Genetic and environmental control of seasonal carbohydrate dynamics in trees of diverse *Pinus sylvestris* populations. Tree Physiol 20: 837-847.
- Palva ET (1994) Gene expression under low temperature stress. In: Basra AS (ed) Stress-Induced Gene Expression in Plants. Harwood Academic Publishers, Chur, p 103-130.
- Palva ET & Heino P (1998) Molecular mechanism of plant cold acclimation and freezing tolerance. In: Li PH & Chen THH (eds) Plant Cold Hardiness. Molecular Biology, Biochemistry and Physiology. Plenum Press, NY, p 3-14.
- Perez-Soba M, Stulen I & van der Eerden LJM (1994) Effect of atmospheric ammonia on the nitrogen metabolism of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) needles. Physiol Plant 90: 629-636.
- Perez-Soba M, Dueck TA, Puppi G & Kuiper PJC (1995) Interactions of elevated CO<sub>2</sub>, NH<sub>3</sub>, and O<sub>3</sub> on mycorrhizal infection, gas exchange and N metabolism in saplings of Scots pine. Plant Soil 176: 107-116.
- Pietilä M, Lähdesmäki P, Pietiläinen P, Ferm A, Hytönen J & Pätilä A (1991) High nitrogen deposition causes changes in amino acid concentrations and protein spectra in needles of the Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*). Environ Pollut 72: 103-115.
- Pietiläinen P & Lähdesmäki P (1986) Free amino acid and protein levels, and γ-glutamyl-transferase activity in *Pinus sylvestris* apical buds and shoots during the growing season. Scand J For Res 1: 387-395.
- Pomeroy MK, Siminovitch D (1970) Seasonal biochemical changes in the living bark and needles of red pine (*Pinus resinosa*) in relation to adaptation to freezing. Can J Bot 48: 953-967.
- Rennenberg H & Gessler A (1999) Consequences of N deposition to forest ecosystems -Recent results and future research needs. Water Air Soil Pollut 116: 47-64.
- Repo T, Zhang G, Ryyppö A, Rikala R & Vuorinen M (2000) The relation between growth cessation and frost hardening in Scots pines of different origins. Trees 8: 456-464.
- Richard S, Morency M, Drevet C, Jouanin L & Séguin A (2000) Isolation and characterization of a dehydrin gene from white spruce induced upon wounding, drought and cold stresses. Plant Mol Biol 43: 1-10.
- Rinne P, Welling A & Kaikuranta P (1998) Onset of freezing tolerance in birch (*Betula pubescens* Ehrh.) involves LEA proteins and osmoregulation and is impaired in an ABA-deficient genotype. Plant Cell Environ 21: 601-611.
- Rinne PLH, Kaikuranta PLM, van der Plas LHW & van der Schoot C (1999) Dehydrins in cold acclimated apices of birch (*Betula pubescens* Ehrh.): production, localization and potential role in rescuing enzyme function during dehydration. Planta 209: 377-388.
- Roberts DR, Toivonen P & McInnis SM (1991) Discrete proteins associated with overwintering of interior spruce and Douglas-fir seedlings. Can J Bot 69: 437-441.
- Rouse DT, Marotta R & Parish RW (1996) Promoter and expression studies on an *Arabidopsis thaliana* dehydrin gene. FEBS Letters 381: 252-256.
- Rowland LJ & Arora R (1997) Proteins related to endodormancy (rest) in woody perennials. Plant Sci 126: 119-144.
- Sakai A & Larcher W (1987) Frost survival of plants. Responses and adaptation to freezing stress. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- Sakai A & Weiser CJ (1971) Freezing resistance of trees in North America with reference to tree regions. Ecology 54: 118-126.

- Sarvas R (1974) Investigations on the annual cycle of development of forest trees. II Autumn dormancy and winter dormancy. Commun Inst For Fenn 84: 1-101.
- Sauter JJ & Van Cleve B (1990) Biochemical, immunochemical, and structural studies of protein storage in poplar (*Populus x canadiensis* 'robusta') wood. Planta 183: 92-100.
- Sauter JJ, Westphal S & Wisniewski M (1999) Immunological identification of dehydrin-related proteins in the wood of five species of *Populus* and in *Salix caprea* L. J Plant Physiol 154: 781-788.
- Shinozaki K & Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K (2000) Molecular responses to dehydration and low temperature: differences and cross-talk between two stress signaling pathways. Curr Opin Plant Biol 3: 217-233.
- Smirnoff N (1998) Plant resistance to environmental stress. Curr Opin Biotech 9: 214-219.
- Smith PK, Krohn RI, Hermansson GT, Mallia AK, Gartner FH, Provenzano MD, Fujimoto EK, Goeke NM, Olson BJ & Klenk DC (1985) Measurement of protein using bicinchoninic acid. Anal Biochem 150: 76-85.
- Smit-Spinks B, Swanson BT & Markhart III H (1985) The effect of photoperiod and thermoperiod on cold acclimation and growth of *Pinus sylvestris*. Can J For Res 15: 453-460.
- Snowball AM, Zeman AM, Tchan YT, Mullins MG & Goodwin PB (1991) Phase change in Citrus: Immunologically detectable differences between juvenile and mature plants. Aust J Plant Physiol 18: 385-396.
- Staswick PE (1990) Novel regulation of vegetative storage protein genes. Plant Cell 2: 1-6.
- Steponkus PL (1984) Role of the plasma membrane in freezing injury and cold acclimation. Annu Rev Plant Physiol 35: 543-584.
- Stushnoff C, Seufferheld MJ & Creegan T (1997) Oligosaccharides as endogenous cryoprotectants in woody plants. In Li PH & Chen THH (eds) Plant Cold Hardiness. Molecular biology, Biochemistry, and Physiology. Plenum press, New York, p 301-309.
- Sutinen ML (1992) Physiological changes in the needles of *Pinus nigra* and *Pinus resinosa* with seasonal change in freezing stress resistance. Acta Univ Oul A 240.
- Sutinen ML, Repo T, Sutinen S, Lasarov H, Alvila L & Pakkanen TT (2000) Physiological changes in *Pinus sylvestris* needles during early spring under sub-arctic conditions. Forest Ecol Manag 135: 217-228.
- Tao DL, Öquist G & Wingsle G (1998) Active oxygen scavengers during cold acclimation of Scots pine seedlings in relation to freezing tolerance. Cryobiology 37: 38-45.
- Taulavuori E, Taulavuori K & Laine K (1999a) Seasonality of glutathione dynamics in Scots pine and bilberry. Plant Biol 1: 187-191.
- Taulavuori E, Taulavuori K, Sarjala T & Laine K (1999b) Polyamines and glutathione metabolism in N fertilized Scots pine seedlings during cold hardening. J Plant Physiol 154: 179-184.
- Taulavuori K (1998) Cellular pH in the assessment of critical N level for frost resistance. Acta Univ Oul A 313.
- Taulavuori K, Taulavuori E, Niinimaa A & Laine K (1996) Frost resistance and pH of cell effusate in needles of artificially deacclimated Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*). Physiol Plant 96: 111-117.
- Taulavuori K, Niinimaa A, Laine K, Taulavuori E & Lähdesmäki P (1997) Modelling frost resistance of Scots pine seedlings using temperature, daylength and pH of cell effusate. Plant Ecol 133: 181-189.
- Thomashow MF (1999) Plant cold acclimation: Freezing tolerance genes and regulatory mechanisms. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 50: 571-599.
- Thomashow MF, Stockinger EJ, Jaglo-Ottosen KR, Gilmour SJ & Zarka DG (1997) Function and regulation of *Arabidopsis thaliana* COR (cold-regulated) genes. Acta Physiol Plant 19: 497-504.
- Uemura M & Steponkus PL (1999) Cold acclimation in plants: Relationship between the lipid composition and the cryostability of the plasma membrane. J Plant Res 112: 245-254.
- Valinger E (1992) Effects of thinning and nitrogen fertilization on stem growth and stem form of *Pinus sylvestris* trees. Scand J For Res 7: 219-228.
- Väre H (1989) Effect of nitrogen on the growth of *Suillus variegatus* and on mycorrhizal and non-mycorrhizal *Pinus sylvestris* seedlings. Aquilo Ser Bot 26: 19-24.

- Vézina LP, Ferullo JM, Laliberté G, Laberge S & Willemot C (1997) Chilling and freezing. In: Prasad MNV (ed) Plant Ecophysiology. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, p 61-100.
- Vilardell J, Goday A, Freire MA, Torrent M, Martinez C & Torne H (1990) Gene sequence, developmental expression and protein phosphorylation of RAB 17 in maize. Plant Mol Biol 14: 423-432.
- Vogg G, Heim R, Hansen J, Schäfer C & Beck E (1998) Frost hardening and photosynthetic performance of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) needles. I. Seasonal changes in the photosynthetic apparatus and its function. Planta 204: 193-200.
- Wang H & Cutler AJ (1995) promoters from *kin1* and *cor6.6*, two *Arabidopsis thaliana* low-temperature- and ABA-inducible genes, direct strong β–glucuronidase expression in guard cells, pollen and young developing seeds. Plant Mol Biol 28: 619-634.
- Wang Y & Zwiazek J (1999) Spring changes in water relations, gas exchange, and carbohydrates of white spruce (*Picea glauca*) seedlings. Can J For Res 29: 332-338.
- Weiser CJ (1970) Cold resistance and injury in woody plants. Science 169: 1299-1278.
- Welin BV, Olson Å, Nylander M, Palva ET (1994) Characterization and differential expression of dhn/lea/rab-like genes during cold acclimation and drought stress in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Mol Biol 26: 131-144.
- Welling A, Kaikuranta P & Rinne P (1997) Photoperiodic induction of dormancy and freezing tolerance in *Betula pubescens*. Involvement of ABA and dehydrins. Physiol Plant 100: 119-125.
- Wetzel S & Greenwood JS (1989) Proteins as a potential nitrogen storage compound in bark and leaves of several softwoods. Trees 3: 149-153.
- Wetzel S, Demmers C & Greenwood JS (1989) Seasonally fluctuating bark proteins are a potential form of nitrogen storage in three temperate hardwoods. Planta 178: 275-281.
- Wiemken V, Kossatz L, Ineichen K (1996) Frost hardiness of Norway spruce grown under elevated atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> and increased nitrogen fertilization. J Plant Physiol 149: 433-438.
- Wisniewski M, Close T, Artlip T, Arora R (1996) Seasonal patterns of dehydrins and 70-kDa heat-shock proteins in bark tissues of eight species of woody plants. Physiol Plant 96: 496-505.
- Wisniewski M, Webb R, Balsamo R, Close TJ, Yu XM & Griffith M (1999) Purification, immunolocalization, cryoprotective, and antifreeze activity of PCA60: A dehydrin from peach (*Prunus persica*). Physiol Plant 105: 600-608.
- Wöllecke J, Münzenberger B & Hüttl RF (1999) Some effects of N on ectomycorrhizal diversity of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) in northeastern Germany. Water Air Soil Pollut 116: 135-140.
- Wood AJ & Goldsbrough PB (1997) Characterization and expression of dehydrins in water-stressed *Sorghum bicolor*. Physiol Plant 99: 144-152.
- Yoshida S, Hotsubo K, Kawamura Y, Murai M, Arakawa K & Takezawa D (1999) Alterations of intracellular pH in response to low temperature stresses. J Plant Res 112:225-236.
- Zedler B, Plarre R & Rothe GM (1986) Impact of atmospheric pollution on the protein and amino acid metabolism of spruce *Picea abies* trees. Environ Pollut 40: 193-212.